FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/4/2018 3:54 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. _____96261-8 (Court of Appeals No. 75864-1-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FOLWEILER CHRIOPRACTIC, PS, a Washington corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

FAIR HEALTH, INC. a New York corporation,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David E. Breskin, WSBA #10607 Daniel F. Johnson, WSBA #27848 Brendan W. Donckers, WSBA #39406 BRESKIN JOHNSON & TOWNSEND, PLLC 1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3670 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone (206) 652-8660 Counsel for Plaintiffs-Appellants

I. INTRODUCTION

The petitioners are Folweiler Chiropractic, P.S., and a certified class of health care providers who treated people injured in auto accidents covered by "personal injury protection" (PIP) insurance. The providers billed the Progressive Insurance Company for treating its insureds, but Progressive automatically refused to pay in full any charges that exceeded the 90th percentile of charges in a database owned and marketed by the respondent, FAIR Health, Inc. ("FH"). Auto-reducing health care bills under PIP insurance is an unfair trade practice under the Washington Consumer Protection Act (CPA). The providers brought this class action against FH for knowingly facilitating Progressive's unfair practices.

The trial court denied FH's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, certified the class, then granted summary judgment to FH. Both sides appealed. The Court of Appeals held that Washington courts lack personal jurisdiction over FH, even though it designed its database to be used in Washington, and as the trial court found, that use "would have a known and intended effect on individuals in Washington." CP 870. Then, despite concluding it lacked jurisdiction, the Court of Appeals decided the merits, holding FH could defeat CPA liability with a boilerplate disclaimer, even if it intended the disclaimer to be ignored. The court also

held causation under the CPA requires proof of not only "but-for" causation, but also "legal causation," which Plaintiffs failed to establish.

The providers moved for reconsideration, which the court denied on August 3, 2018. It awarded FH \$96,000 in attorney's fees and costs under the long-arm statute, remanding for additional fees in the trial court. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b) and reverse.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Do Washington courts have personal jurisdiction over a foreign defendant that collected information in Washington to be used in Washington where the use of the information caused injury in Washington?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in awarding a foreign defendant all its "reasonable" fees and costs under the long-arm statute, rather than only the added fees for defending here, and without considering the liberal construction of and the chilling effect on CPA enforcement?
- 3. Can a written disclaimer alone immunize a company from CPA liability, even if the company knows the disclaimer is ignored and its product is being used to harm consumers?
- 4. Should a private CPA claimant have to prove not only but-for causation but also "legal" causation?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Auto insurers' use of a charge database to automatically reduce payment of PIP claims violates the CPA.

Washington law requires auto insurers to provide PIP coverage and requires insurers to pay "all reasonable and necessary" medical expenses incurred as a result of a covered accident. RCW 48.22.005(7). The terms

"reasonable" and "necessary" are given their ordinary meaning, and insurers may not restrict their meaning to deny or limit coverage. *Durant v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, --Wn.2d--, 2018 Wash. LEXIS 355, *7, *11 (June 7, 2018). An insurer must investigate before denying or limiting any expense as "unreasonable." WAC 284-30-330.

In August 2012, a King County jury unanimously found that Progressive's practicing of using a database of charges organized by region to set the maximum amount it would pay for medical expenses under PIP coverage violated the foregoing rules and constituted an unfair trade practice under the CPA.¹ CP 2577-79.

The database Progressive had been using (with its bill-reviewer, Mitchell Medical) was called Ingenix. CP 2529, 2853-54. As a result of an investigation and lawsuit by the New York Attorney General, in 2011 the Ingenix database was transferred to a new company, Defendant Fair Health. CP 5. FH re-named the database and began marketing it to the same customers, including Progressive's bill reviewer, Mitchell Medical. CP 2853-54; 3183. Progressive used FH's database the same way it had used Ingenix: to automatically reduce providers' bills when they exceeded the 90th percentile of the charges in the database. CP 12, 2163, 3010.

¹ Progressive set the maximum payment at the 90th percentile of the charges from that region in the database, and reduced any higher bills to that amount, without ever determining that the higher amount was not "reasonable." CP 12, 2163.

The FH database, just like its predecessor, cannot be used to determine what is or is not a "reasonable" charge for a given medical treatment. Like Ingenix, FH uses eight geo-zip areas to sort and display the data it collects from Washington.² CP 2878, 2900. FH admits it has no idea what percentage of providers in each geo-zip is represented in its database. CP 1827. Thus, FH's data simply *cannot* determine what 90% of all providers charge for any procedure in any geo-zip area. CP 1826-27, 2905-06. FH cannot even get a margin of error or an average charge rate for any treatment in any geo-zip area. CP 1827-28. Its efficacy for that purpose is literally random. *See* CP 2164.

Even if the data in each geo-zip were reliable and complete, a geo-zip area does not correspond to a reasonable medical market. CP 3010; *see* CP 2900-01. A geo-zip area includes data from high-density urban areas like Everett with disparate, sparsely populated rural areas in the San Juan Islands. CP 3010.³ It does not organize data by the city where treatment was provided or by provider (such as their credentials, certifications, or years of experience). CP 3009-11, 2868-71, 1832.

FH admits the flaws in its database. It admits that it cannot be used to determine the reasonableness of any charge rate for any procedure

² A geo-zip area corresponds to the first three digits of the area's zip code.

³ Both areas are within the '982' geo-zip. CP 3010.

in any geo-zip area. CP 2871, 2873-74, 1832-33. In fact, FH includes a disclaimer among the boilerplate in its user guides stating that the database "is not a fee schedule" and does not determine the reasonableness of fees charged. CP 2314; *see* CP 2858. But FH does not enforce this disclaimer or undertake any efforts to ensure that auto insurers who use its database understand it. *See* CP 1828, 2909-12. It does not, for instance, tell auto insurers that the 90th percentile of its database does not correspond to what 90 percent of providers charge in a given geo-zip area. CP 1826-27.

B. FH knows and intends for its database to be used to reduce bills submitted to auto insurers under PIP policies.

FH knows and intends that auto insurers use its database to reduce providers' bills to a certain percentile.⁴ During the transition from Ingenix, insurers made clear they would have little interest in the FH database if doing so increased their costs over Ingenix. CP 1805-06, 2966-67. In January 2012, six months after the transition, FH's president attended a conference where insurers were assured they could expect the same results using the FH database as with the Ingenix database. CP 1787-88.

_

⁴ Progressive's bill reviewer told FH which auto insurers were using its database. CP 3183 (email from Mitchell to FH attaching "[t]otal bills entered into our products by Product Line & Customer"). FH's contract with Mitchell "calls for Mitchell to provide [FH] with the list of their customers." CP 687. FH denies it received such lists, but the email shows that it did. CP 3183. FH refused to produce the actual lists attached to the email. *See* CP 3208:9-13.

In fact, FH actively supports the use of its database to determine "reasonableness" under PIP policies. It regularly testifies on behalf of auto insurers to defend their use of the database to set reimbursement rates. CP 2451-52, 2929-30. And it provides statistical analyses of data in its database to defend auto insurers' reductions to providers' bills. CP 2863-65. It has done this *for Progressive in Washington*. CP 1579-92 (emails from FH to Mitchell to respond to Corley Chiropractic Clinic in Everett, attaching "charge distribution" tables for its geo-zip); CP 2863, 2868 (explaining the information "gives [Corley] an idea of the underlying data that the percentiles are based on."). Notwithstanding that FH qualifies as a "non-profit," it makes approximately a million dollars a year from auto insurers' use of its data. 6

C. FH knew and intended for its database to be used in this manner in Washington.

As noted, FH's data is collected and organized by region. Thus, FH collects Washington-specific data from its customers doing business in Washington and then sorts the Washington data according to eight geo-zip regions in Washington. CP 681, 699-703; *see* CP 2900. As FH's CR 30(b)(6) witness explained, FH's "product" consists of "a procedure code

⁵ FH would not provide discovery unless it pertained to "Progressive, Mitchell, and Washington." CP 3105.

⁶ During a recent six-year period, FH made approximately \$6 million from bill reviewers like Mitchell that adjust PIP claims for auto insurers. CP 2167.

and a geozip and what the charges are." CP 2873. The *only* use for the Washington-specific data is for companies doing business in Washington to set the payments to Washington providers. *See* CP 681, 2873. And, as noted above, FH knew some of those providers treated Washington insureds under Washington PIP claims.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals misapplied the federal Due Process Clause, improperly limiting the jurisdiction of Washington courts.

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision on jurisdiction misinterpreted this Court's precedents and the United States Constitution, improperly limiting the jurisdiction of Washington courts. RAP 13.4(b)(2-3).

Washington's "long-arm statute" is intended to extend the jurisdiction of its courts to the furthest limits permitted by the Due Process Clause. *Deutsch v. W. Coast Mach. Co.*, 80 Wash. 2d 707, 711 (1972). The Due Process Clause permits a state court to exercise personal jurisdiction over a foreign defendant who has "purposeful minimum contacts" with Washington if the plaintiff's injuries "arise out of or relate to those minimum contacts." *State v. LG Elecs., Inc.*, 186 Wn.2d 169,

⁷ See supra notes 4-5 and accompanying text.

176-77 (2016) (internal quotations omitted).⁸ The trial court, Judge William L. Downing, found this standard met here:

I am persuaded that the defendant's collection, compilation and use of data that is Zip Code specific constitutes a sufficiently purposeful involvement in the state of Washington Although the defendant was not manufacturing a product that would physically land in this state (as in the more traditional case), it was licensing a database that would have a known and intended effect on individuals in Washington.

CP 870.

The Court of Appeals did not directly disagree; it acknowledged FH "has contacts in Washington," and that it "collects data from Washington to be used in Washington." Slip Op. at 8. Yet, it concluded that the providers' claims were not "related to" those contacts. *Id.* at 8-9. "FAIR Health has customers in Washington, but the class's claims did not arise out of those contacts." *Id.* This is plainly wrong; the charge data that FH collected from health insurers in Washington are exactly the same charge data it provided Mitchell and Progessive to unlawfully reduce the providers' bills. *See* CP 681, 2873.

.

⁸ This test is for "specific" or "case-specific" personal jurisdiction; defendants who reside in the forum or have "continuous and systematic" contact with the forum are subject to "general" personal jurisdiction and can be sued even for acts unrelated to the forum. *Goodyear Dunlop Tires Ops., S.A. v. Brown*, 564 U.S. 915, 919 (2011). Folweiler does not claim and has not ever claimed that FH is subject to general personal jurisdiction in Washington.

The Court of Appeals appeared to believe a foreign defendant must have "direct contact" with a Washington plaintiff in order for there to be jurisdiction. Slip Op. at 8-9. It observed that FH did not collect charge data "from auto insurers, like Progressive, or health care providers, like the class members." *Id.* This kind of direct contact is not required, and never has been required.⁹

Washington courts take a "but for cause" approach to determining whether the plaintiff's claims arise out of or relate to defendant's contacts with the forum state. ¹⁰ Even the Court of Appeals acknowledged the evidence is sufficient to meet that test. Slip Op. at 18. "But for" FH's collection and arrangement of Washington state charge data and its licensing of the data for Mitchell's use in setting auto insurance reimbursements to Washington providers, the providers would not have been injured in violation of RCW 48.22.005(7) and the CPA.

It is well-established that a foreign defendant need not "sell its products directly to Washington consumers," nor even "conduct any business in Washington" for there to be personal jurisdiction. *LG Elecs.*,

⁹ The Court of Appeals also relied primarily on a recent case that bears no resemblance to this one, *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court of California*, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 1779-81 (2017). It held California lacked jurisdiction over a foreign defendant on claims by *foreign plaintiffs* who had no connection to California.

¹⁰ Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines, 113 Wn. 2d 763, 772 (1989) (citing Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines, 863 F.2d 1437 (9th Cir. 1988), withdrawn, 872 F.2d 930 (1989)).

186 Wn.2d at 174. It does not matter whether FH got its Washington charge data from auto insurers or health insurers; the point is that it collected and assembled *Washington* charge data that was used to cause harm to health care providers *in Washington*. *See Calder v. Jones*, 465 U.S. 783, 788-89 (1984) (Florida author and editor subject to personal jurisdiction in California for story "drawn from California sources" where "the brunt of the harm … was suffered in California."). The providers are Washington health care providers, and their claims arise out of and relate to the charge data FH collected in Washington.

FH did not argue otherwise in the courts below. Instead, it argued that its contacts did not amount to "purposeful availment," because it simply licensed its data (including Washington data) to Mitchell, in California, and played no role in Mitchell's decision to use the data to reduce auto insurers' bills in Washington. Yet, as this Court held in *LG Elecs.*, it is enough that a foreign manufacturer "seeks to serve the forum state's market" and placed its goods "in the stream of commerce" knowing they will be used in the forum. 186 Wn.2d at 177.

In *LG Elecs*., the state had alleged the defendant manufacturers had placed their cathode ray tubes (CRTs) "into the stream of commerce with the knowledge and intent" that they would be used in televisions sold "throughout the United States, including in large numbers in Washington."

Id. at 178. The key was the allegation that the foreign defendants knew and intended their product to be used to cause harm in Washington.

Compare Noll v. American Biltrite, Inc., 188 Wn.2d 402, 406-07(2017)

(holding that Wisconsin asbestos manufacturer was not subject to personal jurisdiction in a wrongful death case by a Washington worker, because the worker had not alleged the manufacturer knew or intended that the asbestos would be used in products sold in Washington).

The providers make such allegations here, *e.g.*, CP 3 ¶ 2.13, and the evidence of record supports those allegations. The evidence shows that FH knew and intended its data—including its Washington data—to be used by bill reviewers and auto insurers to set reimbursement rates to providers, CP 685, 2868, 1579-92, even though it also knew its data was unfit for such use. CP 2314.

The providers do not accuse FH of "mere untargeted negligence." *Calder*, 465 U.S. at 789. They claim FH's "intentional, and allegedly tortious, actions were expressly aimed at" Washington. *Id.* FH purposely collected charge data from Washington to be used by auto insurers like Progressive to determine how much to pay Washington providers.

1

¹¹ When deciding personal jurisdiction, the Court must treat the allegations in the complaint as "established." *LG Elecs.*, 185 Wn. App. at 406. When there is evidence presented outside the pleadings but no evidentiary hearing, the evidence should be construed in favor of the plaintiff. *Id.* (citing *State v. AU Optronics Corp.*, 180 Wn. App. 903, 912 (2014)).

Washington providers should not have to go to New York to seek redress from companies who knowingly cause injury in Washington. *Id.* at 790. This Court should take review and reverse.

B. The Court of Appeals should not have awarded fees and costs against the class.

The Court of Appeals also erred in awarding FH nearly \$100,000 in attorney's fees and costs to FH, just for the initial appeal. Slip Op. at 21-22; Not. Ruling (8/30/2018). Under Washington's long-arm statute, an award of fees and costs is not mandatory, and is "left to the trial court's discretion." RCW 4.84.185; *see Fluke Capital & Management Servs. Co. v. Richmond*, 106 Wn.2d 614, 625 (1986). Many trial courts have declined to make an award in circumstances like those presented here, where there is no evidence of bad faith and the jurisdictional question was debatable. The question is at least a close one here, and there is no

¹² The providers will move to modify the Commissioner's ruling. FH previously sought, and likely will seek again, nearly \$400,000 in fees in the trial court. CP 4433.

¹³ Cabell v. Zorro Prods., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 180861, *3-7 (W.D.Wash. March 23, 2015) (Robart, J.) (jurisdictional issues were "far from clear" and Plaintiff acted in good faith and the court finds a fee award under the long-arm statute "inappropriate"); Perkumpulan Investor Crisis Ctr. Dressle-WBG v. Wong, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 103885, *12 (W.D.Wash. July 29, 2014) (Couhgenour, J.) (denying fees under the long-arm statute where it "cannot" be said that the suit was "frivolous, made in bad faith, or meant to harass.") (internal citations omitted); Johnson v. Venzon, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 123934, *17 (W.D.Wash. Aug. 30, 2012) (Lasnik, J.) (denying fees because the issue of jurisdiction was "complicated and close" and "far from frivolous"); Amazon.com, Inc. v. Kalaydijan, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26376, *3 (W.D.Wash. Mar. 27, 2001) (Rothstein, J.) (finding that good faith in bringing the claim rendered fees "inappropriate and unnecessary.").

evidence of bad faith. *See* CP 807 (Downing, J. finding jurisdiction); CP 4343-54 (Commissioner Kanazawa finding jurisdiction debatable and denying interlocutory review).

A request for fees under the long arm statute must be limited to the added costs of litigating in Washington. *Scott Fetzer Co. v. Weeks*, 114 Wn.2d 109, 122 (1990). The Court of Appeals ignored this limit, and awarded what it found was a "generous" amount to cover *all* of FH's reasonable fees on appeal. Not. Ruling (8/30/2018).

Further, any award must balance the purpose of "recompensing an out-of-state defendant for its reasonable efforts" with "encouraging the full exercise of state jurisdiction" and should not have the effect of chilling plaintiffs and causing them to abandon otherwise valid claims "merely out of fear of the possibility of fee shifting." *Scott Fetzer Co. v. Weeks*, 122 Wn.2d 141, 149 (1993). Potential chilling effects are especially important to consider in any award of fees against a plaintiff in a CPA case because of the heightened public interests at stake. The legislature has declared that the CPA should be interpreted liberally. RCW 19.86.920. Private CPA actions are "an integral part of CPA enforcement." *Scott v. Cingular Wireless*, 160 Wn.2d 843, 853 (2007). "Private citizens act as private attorneys general in protecting the public's interest against unfair and deceptive acts and practices in trade and commerce." *Id.* Any award of

attorney's fees, particularly in the extraordinary range sought by FH, would have a serious impact on private citizens' willingness to challenge foreign companies' trade practices under the Washington CPA. The Court of Appeals did not consider any of these concerns; it should have remanded to the trial court to consider these and other factors. *Scott Fetzer Co.*, 114 Wn.2d at 125 (remanding to trial court to determine "what, if any, award [defendant] is entitled to for its appellate efforts.").

C. The Court of Appeals' holdings on the merits contradict established law and raise issues of substantial public interest.

If the Court has jurisdiction, it should also review the Court of Appeals' decision on the merits, which is unprecedented and wrong. ¹⁴ It held first that a defendant can defeat a CPA claim if it has a disclaimer against unfair use of its product, regardless of how the product was actually used, and even if the defendant knew and intended that use. Second, it held a consumer must prove not only cause-in-fact, or "but-for" causation, but also "legal causation," which has never before been required in a CPA case. These holdings contradict well-established precedent and would significantly curtail the CPA's application, implicating substantial public interests. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

-

¹⁴ If the Court of Appeals lacked personal jurisdiction it should not have decided the merits of the claims. *State v. Northwest Magnesite Co.*, 28 Wn.2d 1, 42 (1947), *quoted in Noll*, 188 Wn.2d at 409 and *Hous. Auth. of City of Everett v. Kirby*, 154 Wn. App. 842, 851 (2010).

1. An unfair practice cannot be excused simply by having a written disclaimer.

The first essential element in a private suit under the CPA is an unfair or deceptive trade practice. *Hangman Ridge Training Stables v.*Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 785 (1986). These terms are defined broadly, depending on the facts and circumstances of each case.

Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank, 176 Wn.2d 771, 785-86 (2013). An "unfair" practice may include a practice that violates a statute or regulation or one that adversely impacts the public interest or offends other policies or the common law. Id. at 786; see also Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 166 Wn.2d 27, 47 (2008).

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