# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/17/2018 2:56 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96261-8 (Court of Appeals No. 75864-1-I)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FOLWEILER CHIROPRACTIC, PS, a Washington corporation,

Petitioner,

V.

FAIR HEALTH, INC. a New York corporation,

Respondent,

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

STOKES LAWRENCE, P.S. Bradford J. Axel (WSBA #29269) Justo G. Gonzalez (WSBA #39127) Lance A. Pelletier (WSBA #49030) 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, Washington 98101-2393 (206) 626-6000

Attorneys for Respondent

#

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals' decision below may only be reviewed by this Court if it: (1) conflicts with a decision of this Court; (2) conflicts with a published decision of another Washington appellate court;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "A ruling by a commissioner or clerk of the Court of Appeals is not subject to review by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.3(e).

(3) involves a significant question of law under the Washington or United States Constitutions; or (4) involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b). The decision here satisfies none of those four criteria.

The Court of Appeals hewed closely to this Court's precedents, refusing to be led into error by Petitioner. And while this case did involve a constitutional Due Process right, that right belonged to FAIR Health rather than Folweiler, and it was a straightforward question that the court answered in accordance with decisions by this Court and the United States Supreme Court. Finally, there is no public interest at stake. Even the alleged injury that Folweiler claims to have suffered (a \$4 underpayment of a bill submitted to Progressive) was remedied in the lawsuit Folweiler brought against Progressive.

None of the RAP 13.4(b) requirements justifies review. This baseless case has already lasted three years — and consumed a considerable amount of FAIR Health's resources — it should not be allowed to extend into a fourth.

#### A. There is no Conflict with this Court's Precedent

On each of the three issues discussed in the Petition (jurisdiction, CPA liability, and the long-arm statute fee award), the Court of Appeals correctly identified and applied controlling law.

#### 1. Personal Jurisdiction

FAIR Health is a New York non-profit corporation with its principal place of business in New York. FAIR Health has no operations in Washington and has never owned, rented, or leased real property in the state. Nor has it ever employed anyone in Washington, registered to do business here, or engaged in any advertising targeted at Washington residents. CP 101-102. FAIR Health does have a small number of licensees located in Washington but neither Progressive nor Folweiler are among them, and none of those licensees' actions are at issue in the case. These few contacts FAIR Health has with Washington are insufficient to establish general personal jurisdiction.<sup>4</sup>

As for FAIR Health's suit-related conduct relevant to the issue of specific personal jurisdiction, it consisted of the following actions: From its New York office, FAIR Health (i) gathered and validated raw charge data regarding medical procedures from all 50 states; (ii) used that raw data to create data modules that sorted the charge data according to percentiles, medical procedure, and geographic location for the entire country; and (iii) licensed one such nationwide data module to a California entity, Mitchell International, Inc. ("Mitchell"). FAIR Health had no direct

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petitioner did not concede the lack of general personal jurisdiction until oral argument on the appeal of its summary judgment loss.

or indirect relationship with either Folweiler or Progressive. Indeed, FAIR Health did not even know that Progressive was using its data in Washington let alone how. CP 687.

On these facts, the Court of Appeals held that the Superior Court lacked specific personal jurisdiction over FAIR Health in connection with Folweiler's CPA claim. In so holding, it correctly relied on this Court's opinions in *Noll v. American Biltrite Inc.*, 188 Wn.2d 402, 395 P.3d 1021 (2017) ("*Noll*") and *State v. LG Electronics, Inc.*, 186 Wn.2d 169, 375 P.3d 1035 (2016) ("*LG*") and on the United States Supreme Court's opinions in *Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown*, 564 U.S. 915, 131 S. Ct. 2846, 180 L. Ed. 2d 796 (2011) ("*Goodyear*"); *Walden v. Fiore*, 571 U.S. 277, 134 S. Ct. 1115, 188 L. Ed. 2d 12 (2014) ("*Walden*"); *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court*, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 198 L. Ed. 2d 395 (2017) ("*Bristol-Myers*"); and *BNSF Railway Co. v. Tyrrell*, 137 S. Ct. 1549, 198 L. Ed 2d 36 (2017) ("*Tyrrell*"). In particular *Noll* and *Bristol-Myers* brought into focus two significant points in the jurisdictional analysis.

First, that it is inappropriate to apply a "sliding scale" between specific personal jurisdiction contacts and general personal jurisdiction

contacts.<sup>5</sup> *Bristol-Myers* 137 S. Ct. at 1780-81; *Noll*, 188 Wn.2d at 410-13. In other words, general contacts that are insufficient to establish general personal jurisdiction should not factor into the analysis of specific personal jurisdiction. Here, Petitioner—without specifically saying sourged such a sliding scale approach, hoping to taint the specific personal jurisdiction analysis with general personal jurisdiction facts. The Court of Appeals refused to be led into error.

The second principle is that no theory allows "jurisdiction based on the mere foreseeability that a product may end up in the forum state." *Noll*, 188 Wn.2d at 413. Because FAIR Health creates nationwide data modules, it is "foreseeable" that the modules could be used in all 50 states. But that does not mean FAIR Health is subject to specific personal jurisdiction in all 50 states on any claim that involves one of its data modules. Both the Supreme Court and this Court have been clear that foreseeability is not the standard for specific personal jurisdiction. *Id.*; *J. McIntyre Mach., Ltd. v. Nicastro*, 564 U.S. 873, 885, 131 S. Ct. 2780, 2790, 180 L. Ed. 2d 765 (2011) ("The owner of a small Florida farm might sell crops to a large nearby distributor . . . who might then distribute

In *Noll*, for instance, the plaintiff sought to use contacts with the forum unrelated to the claims at issue to establish specific personal jurisdiction. 188 Wn.2d at 410–11. But this Court refused to consider those unrelated contacts for purposes of specific jurisdiction because they were "not transactionally related to Noll's claim." *Id*.

them to grocers across the country. If foreseeability were the controlling criterion, the farmer could be sued in Alaska or any number of other States' courts without ever leaving town"). Again, following clearly controlling law, the Court of Appeals correctly refused to equate foreseeability with the targeting necessary to establish specific personal jurisdiction.

Having refused to engage in an erroneous analysis peddled by Folweiler, the Court of Appeals correctly held that specific personal jurisdiction did not exist over a New York non-profit that had licensed a nationwide data module to a California entity.

#### 2. CPA — Unfair Act

Turning to the substantive elements of Petitioner's CPA claim, both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals were at a loss to find any unfair act on the part of FAIR Health.<sup>7</sup> The Superior Court noted that "there is no apparent basis for finding unfairness in FAIR Health's own acts. Plaintiff alleges injury resulting directly from actions of Progressive Insurance. The defendant did not in any way direct or control the acts of Progressive." CP 3989-90. The Court of Appeals added that "CPA liability

<sup>6</sup> Of course, here a foreseeability standard would cause even more chaos because the data licensed to Mitchell in California was never sent to other states like the Florida farmer's crop in the *McIntyre* example. Rather the data was simply used by Mitchell in California to provide services to customers around the country.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Whether an act is unfair under the CPA is a question of law. *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 166 Wn. 2d 27, 47, 204 P.3d 885 (2009).

does not extend to a party that compiles data and clearly explains the limitations of that data simply because a licensee ignores those limitations." Slip. Op. at 17.

Knowing that it could not prove that licensing a data module was an unfair act, Petitioner pivoted to an "aiding and abetting" theory of liability, arguing that FAIR Health could be liable for Progressive's alleged unfair acts. But that theory has its own fatal flaws.

First, there is no authority for aiding and abetting liability under the CPA. Indeed, the principle federal case upon which Petitioner relied, *FTC v. Neovi, Inc.*, made clear that it was not adopting an aiding and abetting theory. 604 F.3d 1150, 1157 (9th Cir. 2010). Second, even if the aiding and abetting theory was legally available, there was no evidence that FAIR Health even knew that Progressive was using its data in Washington or in any particular way. CP 687. As the Superior Court noted, FAIR Health "did not in any way direct or control the acts of Progressive." CP 3990.9

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Petitioner calls this theory "facilitating and contributing" instead of "aiding and abetting" but it is the same concept.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Before this lawsuit was filed, several Washington Superior Courts had already ruled that it was not a CPA violation—or a violation of any other law—for a PIP insurer to consult FAIR Health data modules when paying PIP claims. CP 1099, 1114.

In sum, neither the Superior Court nor the Court of Appeals could find an unfair act upon which a CPA claim could be predicated. As a result, Petitioner was unable to clear the first hurdle of its CPA claim.

#### 3. CPA — Causation

Petitioner also could not clear the last CPA hurdle, establishing proximate causation. Knowing causation would be a barrier to recovery, Petitioner tried to convince both the Superior Court and Court of Appeals to lower the causation bar from proximate causation to "but for" causation. Both courts correctly declined that invitation.

In *Indoor Billboard*, this Court clarified "that the proximate cause standard embodied in WPI 15.01 is required to establish the causation element in a CPA claim." Washington Pattern Instruction 15.01 requires that a plaintiff establish both "but for" and "legal" causation in order to establish proximate causation. Indeed, the first sentence of the Comment to WPI 15.01 provides: "Proximate cause under Washington law recognizes two elements: cause in fact and legal causation." Both courts below applied this standard, which Folweiler admitted it could not satisfy. There is no conflict with this Court's precedents regarding proximate causation.

\_

Indoor Billboard/Wash., Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Wash., Inc., 162 Wn.2d 59, 83, 170
 P.3d 10 (2007); see also Schnall v. AT & T Wireless Servs., Inc., 171 Wn.2d 260, 278, 259 P.3d 129 (2011).

#### 4. Long-Arm Statute

The long arm statute allows an out-of-state defendant that "prevails in the action" to recover its reasonable attorneys' fees. RCW 4.28.185(5). This Court has clarified that a defendant may "prevail in the action" for purposes of the long arm statute by winning on the merits of the claim, by defeating jurisdiction, or through a voluntary dismissal. *Scott Fetzer Co. v. Weeks*, 114 Wn.2d 109, 113, 786 P.2d 265 (1990); *Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards, Inc.*, 81 Wn.2d 863, 868, 505 P.2d 790 (1973); *Kim v. Lakeside Adult Family Home*, 185 Wn.2d 532, 564-65, 374 P.3d 121 (2016). Here, FAIR Health prevailed both on jurisdiction and on the merits of the CPA claim. The decision whether to award fees under the statute is discretionary, and the Court of Appeals properly exercised that discretion. Nothing about that decision satisfies the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). 11

#### B. There is no Conflict with a Published Appellate Decision

The Petition does not identify any published Court of Appeals decision that conflicts with the decision below. Petitioner does cite *Holiday Resort Cmty. Ass'n v. Echo Lake Assocs.*, 134 Wn. App. 210, 135 P.3d 499 (2006) for the proposition that a plaintiff and a defendant do not need to have a direct relationship in order for a CPA claim to be

<sup>11</sup> As for the proper amount of fees, that issue is not properly before this Court under RAP 13.3(e) because the Court of Appeals has not ruled on Petitioner's Motion to Modify.

- 15 -

maintained. FAIR Health agrees. But FAIR Health has never argued otherwise and that was not why Petitioner lost below. Both the *Holiday* and *Neovi* courts found that the defendant—itself—had done something wrong. Here there was no such finding. Nor could there be.

# C. Petitioner's Constitutional Rights Are not Involved

This case does not involve any state constitutional right. And the only federal right at issue is FAIR Health's Due Process right not to be called into a distant forum to defend a baseless claim. See, e.g., Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 471–72, 105 S. Ct. 2174, 2181, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985) ("The Due Process Clause protects an individual's liberty interest in not being subject to the binding judgments of a forum with which he has established no meaningful 'contacts, ties, or relations'") (citation omitted). As demonstrated above, the Court of Appeals correctly applied a number of recent decisions by this Court and the United States Supreme Court, and their discussion on the limits of specific jurisdiction, to reach its decision. Although very important to FAIR Health, that right does not justify review of the entire case by this Court. Indeed, forcing FAIR Health to further defend its liberty interest only diminishes the value of that right by making it more expensive to vindicate.

#### D. There is no Substantial Public Interest Requiring Review

FAIR Health was formed to advance the public interest by providing a source of health claims charge data that could be used by governments, providers, insurers, researchers, and consumers throughout the United States. There is nothing wrong with FAIR Health data, and as alluded to above several Washington superior courts have expressly endorsed the use of the data as a tool in determining the reasonableness of PIP claims. CP 1099, 1114; *Chan Healthcare Grp., PS v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 844 F.3d 1133, 1135 n. 1 (9th Cir. 2017) ("Breskin brought two separate class action lawsuits in Washington state court against other insurers, both of which resulted in settlements that allowed use of the FAIR Health database."). As for the legal issues presented by the case below, the unanimous, unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals did not break any new legal ground. Instead it was a faithful application of well-settled legal principles to a case that should never have been filed.

#### E. FAIR Health Requests Fees Under RAP 18.1

Under RAP 18.1(j), FAIR Health respectfully requests an award of the reasonable fees it has incurred in responding to the Petition.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Petitioner lost below on three independently fatal bases in a unanimous, unpublished opinion that correctly applied this Court's and the United States Supreme Court's most recent decisions. There is no reason for review to be granted in this case.